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Rosenson, Valerie

From: Casolo, Louis
Sent: Friday, April 22, 2016 4:04 PM
To: Rosenson, Valerie; Zelinsky, John; Mahoney, Dennis; Ryan, Kieran; McMullen, J.R.; 

Coppola Jr., Joseph; Skigen, Randall; Day, Harry
Cc: Orgera, Ernie; Emmett, Kathryn; Rosenberg, Burt; Ginotti, Paul; Pollard, Michael
Subject: Response to BOR inquires - Merriebrook Lane 
Attachments: Merriebrok Lane Bridge - Land Transfer Documents to BOR-4-22-16_R1.pdf; 

merriebrook-lane-docs.pdf

Ms. Rosenson: 
  
This is in response to Representative Ryan, Mahoney, and McMullen’s inquires yesterday and today 
regarding the status of Merriebrook Lane.  
 

Please feel free to send it to other BOR members as you see fit. 
    
Representative Mahoney observes in his email below that Merriebrook Lane is listed as an 
unaccepted road on the City's list of roads, and has inquired as to the differences between a private 
road and an unaccepted road.   I wish to explain the status of Merriebrook Lane and to explain why I 
stated at the Operations Committee meeting last night that Merribrook Lane is a public road.   
  
As a general proposition, an unaccepted road is a public road which has not been accepted by the 
City as it was built or designed some time ago in a manner that does not meet City standards. As you 
will see from the explanation which follows, Merriebrook Lane actually lies on City property.   
  
Merriebrook Lane west of the Merriebrook Bridge leads to the sole entrance in Stamford to the 
Mianus River Park.  As you can see from the attached deed documentation and graphical maps that 
have been prepared and attached in 1972 (refer to first attachment), the City of Stamford and the 
Town of Greenwich acquired the land of the Mianus River Park.  Millions of dollars of federal, state 
and local funds were used to acquire the land which comprises the Mianus River Park for passive 
recreation.  In connection therewith, on 9-5-72, the City acquired three parcels of property from 
Mianus Valley Trails, Inc.  Included in the purchase was a Second Parcel which was described as 
"Merriebrook Lane (Private Road) Parcel C Area = 2.754 Acres" ...  "Said road right of way is fifty (50) 
feet in perpendicular width and extends from Westover Road across the Mianus River Bridge 
approximately to the Stamford-Greenwich town line." 
  
As Mr. Ginotti stated at Wednesday night's meeting of the Operations Committee, the City owns the 
property upon which Merribrook Road lies.  His remarks are based on the documentation noted 
above. Since the road is City property, the City has the obligation to maintain Merriebrook Lane and 
has historically done so.   
  
We return to the principle that an unaccepted road is a public road that has not been accepted by the 
City.  It would be accurate to call Merriebrook Lane a public road for this reason alone.  However, in 
this case, there is additional support for the conclusion that Merriebrook Lane is a public road: 
because it lies within property owned by the City.  Based upon the foregoing facts, the representation 
which I made last night to the Operations Committee as to the status of Merriebrook Lane is entirely 
accurate.   
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Attached are land records (deed and map) of the 1972 transfer of land, including Merriebrook Lane, 
to the City.  Also included is a Legal Opinion in regards to the rights of this public way.  
  
From: Mahoney, Dennis  
Sent: Thursday, April 21, 2016 10:14 AM 
To: Holzweiss, Sheila; BOR_Operations 
Subject: RE: Reminder: Operations Committee meeting tonight, 7:00pm 
  
Chairman Coppola and Acting Chairman (Last night) Zelinsky,  
  
Can  you please request a clarification of the Merriebrook Lane Item on our agenda last night? I would like to understand 
further what it means to be a private road and/or an unaccepted road. I have a list which designates Merriebrook as 
Unaccepted, but last night it was stated that it was a public road and would like to understand the differences. I 
appreciate your assistance. 
  
Dennis 
 
From: J.R. McMullen [mailto:jrmcmullen.stamford18@gmail.com]  
Sent: Friday, April 22, 2016 3:16 PM 
To: Adams, Terry; Liebson, Alice; Buckman, Brien; Coppola Jr., Joseph; Coleman, Elise; Giraldo, Willy; Mahoney, Dennis; 
McMullen, J.R.; Zelinsky, John 
Cc: Ryan, Kieran; Rosenberg, Burt; Casolo, Louis; Emmett, Kathryn 
Subject: Re: legal memo re Merrybrook lane 
 
Hi John, 
   As acting Chairperson for the Operation Committee this month, would you mind asking our operations department or the City's legal 
staff how we are able to determine definitively whether or not any particular piece of infrastructure (road way, bridge, building, 
telephone pole, etc) within Stamford's borders belongs to the City ? I am surprised there is so much confusion regarding Merriebrook 
Lane and, assuming the Private Road sign is not an aberration, the pedestrian use only (for City Residents) bridge found at the end of 
it. 
  
Reponse to Representative Zelinsky’s costing request made during the Operations Committee 
Meeting: 
  
Final Design – Initial      $87,880 
Design Change Order    $61,430 based on unforeseen conditions associated with footings and 
abutment walls 
Total Design                $149,310 
  
If he asks for total cost: 
  
Inspection and Load Rating $8,000

Final Design – Original Scope for simple bridge $87,880

Design Change Order – Change in Foundations $61,430

Construction     $1,074,000

Inspection $179,700

Total Estimated Project Cost $1,411,010

  
All design and inspection costs are cost-plus not to exceed. 
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Response to email inquiry from Kieran Ryan sent Thursday, April 21, 2016 1:08 PM and 
general discussion by Committee 
  
Here is a list of those dependent upon the bridge for vehicle access (other than the Brownstein’s, the 
private property owner): 
 

 City staff empty garbage cans and do other maintenance inside the park, driving through the 
main entrance to the park and using the fire road. 

 The bridge is the only access for emergency vehicles into the park. 
 The State stocks the river with trout twice a year – in early spring and in the fall. 
 The Friends of Mianus River Park regularly deliver plants and other materials to do restoration 

plantings & trail work.  For example, they will be in the park with Aquarion volunteers next 
week doing a big fencing and planting project. 

 The Board of the Friends of MRP & Trout Unlimited (TU) got an EPB permit to do river 
restoration work along the river’s edge over the next few years, which requires getting heavy 
machinery and boulders into the park.  For example, TU was in there last week finishing the 
first phase of the work. 

 The Friends hire Eastern Land Management to bring a watering truck into the park to 
periodically water their various native plant installations. 

  
From: Ryan, Kieran  
Sent: Thursday, April 21, 2016 1:08 PM 
To: BOR_Operations; Casolo, Louis; Rosenberg, Burt 
Subject:  
  
Regarding bridge discussed last night - as soon as you cross the bridge a sign greets you with the notice "private road."  See pics 
below.  Also, parking for the public to use the park (essentially a series of remote hiking trails), is indeed provided before you get to 
the bridge. 
  
This email is intended to distribute information in the public domain, and this email is not meant to start an email response-
discussion. 
  
Thanks.  Kieran. 
  
Response to email inquiry from Representative Mahoney sent Thursday, April 21, 2016 3:39pm 
PM 
  
As we discussed, bridge rehabilitation projects are funded utilizing  citywide bridge accounts. The 
account requests are based and prioritized on the structural condition of the bridge that can change 
from year to year. It was noted in the 16/17 budget request that the balance of funds in the account 
will be utilized for the Merriebrook Lane Bridge project.  
  
Response to a general comment that arose during the Operations Committee meeting: 
  
In regards to your concern over attracting only one bid, my office spoke to another contractor who 
attended the pre-bid walkthrough and intended to bid but choose not to. The outcome of that 
conversation was that had they bid, their cost would have been substantially higher that the sole 
bidder (on the order of $500k more).  
  
I trust that I have fully answered the Representatives questions.   
  
Regards, 
 



4

Louis Casolo 
City Engineer 
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